



D5.1

Guideline for uncertainty quantification of rock mechanical properties



Organisation(s)	NGI	
Author(s)	Nezam Bozorgzadeh, Lars Grande, Jung Chan	
	Choi, Elin Skurtveit	
Reviewer	Farrokh Nadim, Steve Pearson, Tine Larsen	
Type of deliverable	Report	
Dissemination level	Open	
WP	5	
Issue date	2022-04-26	
Document version	1	

Keywords:

Geomechanics, uncertainty quantification, CO2 storage

Summary:

This report introduces some practical methods that can be used to quantify the uncertainties involved in geomechanical properties estimation. Among the various aspects of uncertainties, this report mainly focuses on uncertainties involved in regression when deriving mechanical properties from empirical correlations and spatially-averaged properties. In addition, it also briefly introduces other types of uncertainties that can be involved in entire process of geomechanical properties estimation with conceptual methods. In overall context of a risk assessment, the information described in this report can be used to prepare statistical inputs for the hazard assessment phase of CO_2 containment risk assessment.



REPORT

ACT SHARP Project

GUIDELINE FOR UNCERTAINTY QUANTIFICATION OF ROCK MECHANICAL PROPERTIES

DOC.NO. 20210518-01-R REV.NO. 1 / 2022-04-26

NORWEGIAN GEOTECHNICAL INSTITUTE NGI.NO Neither the confidentiality nor the integrity of this document can be guaranteed following electronic transmission. The addressee should consider this risk and take full responsibility for use of this document.

This document shall not be used in parts, or for other purposes than the document was prepared for. The document shall not be copied, in parts or in whole, or be given to a third party without the owner's consent. No changes to the document shall be made without consent from NGI.

Ved elektronisk overføring kan ikke konfidensialiteten eller autentisiteten av dette dokumentet garanteres. Adressaten bør vurdere denne risikoen og ta fullt ansvar for bruk av dette dokumentet.

Dokumentet skal ikke benyttes i utdrag eller til andre formål enn det dokumentet omhandler. Dokumentet må ikke reproduseres eller leveres til tredjemann uten eiers samtykke. Dokumentet må ikke endres uten samtykke fra NGI.

Project

Project title:	ACT SHARP project (EC Project no. 327342)
Document title:	Guideline for uncertainty quantification of rock mechanical properties
Document no.:	20210518-01-R
Date:	2022-04-26
Revision no. /rev. date:	1 / 2022-04-26

Client

Client:	Gassnova SF
Client contact person:	Kirsten Haaberg
Contract reference:	621260

for NGI

Project manager:	Elin Skurtveit
Prepared by:	Nezam Bozorgzadeh, Lars Grande, Jung Chan Choi, Elin Skurtveit
Reviewed by:	Farrokh Nadim, Steve Pearson (RiskTec), Tine Larsen (GEUS)

NORWEGIAN GEOTECHNICAL INSTITUTE

Main office PO Box 3930 Ullevaal St. NO-0806 Oslo Norway Trondheim office PO Box 5687 Torgarden NO-7485 Trondheim Norway T 22 02 30 00 BIC NO. DNBANOKK F 22 23 04 48 IBAN NO26 5096 05 01281 NGI@ngi.no ORGANISATION NO. 958 254 318MVA

ISO 9001/14001 281 CERTIFIED BY BSI FS 32989/EMS 612006

 $p:\2021\05\20210518\calculations\ and\ wp\ activities\wp5\ risk\ quantification\reports\d5.1_input\ uncertainty\ quantification\rev1\20210518-01-r_input_uncertainty_uncertainty_uncertainty_uncertainty_uncertainty_uncertainty_uncertainty_uncertainty_uncertainty_uncertainty_uncertainty_uncertainty_uncertainty_uncertainty_uncertainty_uncertainty_uncertainty_uncertainty_uncertainty$

Summary

This report introduces some practical methods that can be used to quantify the uncertainties involved in geomechanical properties estimation. Among the various aspects of uncertainties, this report mainly focuses on uncertainties involved in regression when deriving mechanical properties from empirical correlations and spatially-averaged properties. In addition, it also briefly introduces other types of uncertainties that can be involved in the entire process of geomechanical properties estimation with conceptual methods. In overall context of a risk assessment, the information described in this report can be used to prepare statistical inputs for the hazard assessment phase of CO_2 containment risk assessment. The main contents of this report can be summarized as follows:

- A depth profile of geomechanical inputs are mostly estimated indirectly from acoustic waves or petrophysical properties using semi-empirical models and calibrated by laboratory or field measurements. The indirect estimations are mainly based on empirical correlations from field/laboratory measurements and/or simplified physical understandings. Thus, the estimations can naturally involve uncertainty caused by the simplification and lack of physical understanding in the empirical correlation.
- When the depth-averaged geomechanical properties are estimated from a welllog or petrophysical information, the estimation can involve the following uncertainties:
 - Statistical parameter uncertainty, which can be associated with limited number of observations or field measurements;
 - Model uncertainty, which can be associated with imperfection of a physical model – for example model used to transform well-log information to rock mechanical inputs – and a probabilistic model, which is related to the form of the statistical parametric distribution and regression model;
 - Spatial variability, which is related to natural randomness of a parameter varying from one point in space to another; and
 - Observation (measurement) error, which is related to imprecisions associated with measurements such as limitations of equipment or operational conditions.
- A few quantification methods for uncertainties listed in the previous bullet point are introduced in this report. As a method to quantify statistical parameter uncertainties, a confidence and prediction interval is introduced. Then, the concept of Bayesian approach is introduced as a means for quantifying model uncertainties. For quantification of spatial variability, a simplified approach using random fields is presented.
- Finally, the uncertainty quantification procedure introduced in this report is demonstrated using a dataset from the North Sea.

This report clearly demonstrates that statistics can be a helpful tool to estimate reliable ranges of geomechanical input that cover an area of interest. Furthermore, it can be useful to determine likelihoods of the data's upper and lower limits in a systematic way



Document no.: Date: 2022-04-26 Rev.no.: 1 Page: 5

without relying entirely on engineering judgement. Note that this report only addresses basic approaches for uncertainty quantification with simplified assumptions. In future studies, more advanced uncertainty quantification methods (e.g., Bayesian approaches) should be actively adopted for uncertainty quantification of rock mechanical property estimation.

Document no.: 20210518-01-R Date: 2022-04-26 Rev.no.: 1 Page: 6

Contents

1	Intro	duction	7
	1.1	Background and motivation	7
	1.2	Objective and scope of work	8
2	Input	properties for geomechanics modelling	9
	2.1	In-situ stress condition	9
	2.2	Static rock mechanical properties	11
3	Туре	s of uncertainty	12
	3.1	Aleatory and epistemic uncertainties	13
	3.2	An application-oriented classification of uncertainties	14
	3.3	An illustrative example	19
4	Meth	ods for quantifying uncertainty involved in spatially-averaged inputs	21
	4.1	Confidence in estimated values	21
	4.2	Combining data and other sources of information	22
	4.3	1-D trend data	25
	4.4	3-D spatial data	29
5	Field	application	29
	5.1	Data examples from the EOS well 31/5-7 in the North Sea	29
	5.2	Example calculation for Young's modulus profile	33
6	Sumr	nary and recommendations	35
7	Refe	rences	36

Review and reference page

Document no.: 20210518-01-R Date: 2022-04-26 Rev.no.: 1 Page: 7

1 Introduction

This document provides a brief introduction on how to quantify uncertainties involved in spatially-averaged inputs required for geomechanics modelling. This work has been carried out through ACT SHARP project (EC Project no. 691712), Deliverable D5.1: Internal guidelines for input uncertainties quantification.

1.1 Background and motivation

The subsurface is inherently heterogeneous because of spatially varying geological processes involving natural randomness. In addition, data processing and interpretation process can also result in errors or uncertainties in the estimated or interpreted rockmechanical properties because of our lack of knowledge on the physical phenomena. Usually, a geomechanical model needs rock mechanical properties that may cover a large range of interest (e.g. from less than a few metres of a wellbore to a few km of reservoir). The estimation of the rock mechanical properties thus relies on upscaling of point source measurements (e.g., laboratory mechanical tests, leak-off tests from fields, etc.) by combining with indirect measurements (e.g., sonic logging, 2D or 3D geophysical survey) covering the area of interest. This upscaling process using indirect measurements needs a model that can transform the measured parameters to mechanical properties of interest (e.g., from acoustic wave velocity to static mechanical properties). The transformation model usually includes assumptions and simplifications, and the imperfect nature of the transformation models can result in uncertainties or errors in the estimation. Figure 1 shows a typical example of estimated profile of best-, low-, highestimate of Young's modulus along the depths. The profiles in the figures were estimated by indirect measurement using the sonic log (left figure). Because of the heterogenous nature of the subsurface, the 1D profile of the sonic log shows significant fluctuation. When the model transforms the measured sonic velocity to the static Young's modulus, the estimation (i.e., the yellow solid line in the right figure) shows discrepancy with measured lab-data (i.e., a red dot) because of simplification and idealization involved in the transformation model. The fluctuated features of the inputs are typically averaged for each layer or represented as a trend line using 1D regression. Usually, geomechanical stability assessment is mostly governed by weak points that are related to high- or lowestimates rather than its average. However, it is quite rare to estimate the likelihoods of the data's upper and lower limits using a systematic statistical approach without engineering judgement. Consequently, the uncertainties in geomechanical proprieties resulting from lack of knowledge and subsurface randomness can result in inaccurate assessment of CO_2 storage integrity (e.g., caprock integrity, fault stability, etc.). It is thus important to have a better understanding of the possible types of uncertainties in the geomechanical properties estimation and associated quantification methods to estimate reliable ranges of geomechanical input for the area of interest and problem of concern.

Document no.: 20210518-01-R Date: 2022-04-26 Rev.no.: 1 Page: 8



Figure 1 Example of typical 1D profile of Young's modulus estimated from sonic log.

1.2 Objective and scope of work

This report aims to introduce some practical methods that can be used to quantify the uncertainties involved in geomechanical properties estimation. Among the various aspects of uncertainties, this report mainly focuses on uncertainties involved in regression when deriving mechanical properties from empirical correlations and spatially-averaged properties. In addition, it also briefly introduces other types of uncertainties that can be involved in the entire process of geomechanical properties estimation with conceptual methods. In overall context of a CO_2 containment risk assessment, the information described in this report can be used to prepare the statistical inputs for a hazard assessment.

This document consists of following sections:

- Section 2 describes some examples of methodology for estimating the input required for geomechanics modelling.
- In Section 3, typical types of uncertainty that can be involved in estimating geomechanical properties are introduced.
- Section 4 describes methods on how to covert the inputs uncertainties that came from different sources defined in Section 3 to statistical parameters (e.g., mean, standard deviation, lower and upper bounds). This section mainly focuses on the uncertainties from the limited number of data (i.e. statistical uncertainty) and the natural variability.



- In Section 5, an example showing how to quantify spatial variability involved in depth-averaged parameters is demonstrated using a dataset from the North Sea.
- Summary and suggestions for further studies are addressed in Section 6.

2 Input properties for geomechanics modelling

This chapter briefly describes how to estimate a depth profile of geomechanical input properties, which are used for geomechanical assessment of reservoir and seal integrity, from indirect measurement (e.g., sonic logs). In-situ stress conditions, elastic properties and strength properties are considered crucial input. Access to data for estimating these parameters may vary considerably depending on the development stage of the project and numbers of wells available. This section focuses on the Norwegian North Sea practices and the correlations typically used for site development when one well has been drilled and well logs, rock mechanical data and formation stress tests are available. Note that this section only covers basic properties that can be used to demonstrate the uncertainty quantification methods in the following sections. A comprehensive review of the rock mechanical property estimation methods is beyond the scope of this report.

2.1 In-situ stress condition

In the following, we will outline few example methods that are widely used to derive depth profiles for the stress conditions based on combining information from well logs and one or more stress tests in the reservoir such as extended leak off tests (XLOT).

In-situ stress conditions are defined as three principal stress orientations and their magnitudes. Within the North Sea sedimentary basin, although some variations are observed, it is common to assume a normal faulting regime (Andrews et al., 2016). In a normal faulting regime, the maximum principal stress σ_1 is vertical ($\sigma_1 = \sigma_v$) and the intermediate principal stress σ_2 and minimum principal stress σ_3 are horizontal ($\sigma_2 = \sigma_H$ and $\sigma_3 = \sigma_h$). In order to assess the effective stress σ' conditions, the pore pressure (p) is used.

Vertical stress σ_V is determined from integration of density logs. The accuracy will depend on the coverage of density log for the site. Normally, the upper stratigraphy is not logged and one would need to assume a density for those layers. Vertical stress generally increases with depth with a gradient between 20–22 kPa/m. This is equal to an average density for sedimentary rocks on Norwegian Continental Shelf (NCS) of between 2.04–2.24 kg/m³ (Andrews, 2016).

Minimum horizontal stress is often determined by extended leak off tests (XLOT) in combination with sonic log method (Andrews and de Lesquen, 2019). The XLOT test is the most accurate test method for measuring the minimum horizontal stress and has a

Document no.: 20210518-01-R Date: 2022-04-26 Rev.no.: 1 Page: 10

coverage of a few metres, while sonic log method gives variation along the well. The XLOT test measures the minimum horizontal stresses by measuring the pressure recorded at the instance the fractures in a wellbore close. A typical pressure record for XLOT is shown in Figure 2. When XLOT data are not available for a specific field, XLOT trends from nearby areas may be utilized. In other cases, when XLOT data are not available, then leak off pressure (LOP) from leak off tests (LOT) can be an indicator for the minimum horizontal stress. However, LOP-value has large uncertainties and normally varies between fracture closure pressure (FCP) and formation breakdown pressure (FBC).



Figure 2 Illustration of pressure records for a XLOT test (from Raaen et al., 2006).

The horizontal stress profile can be calculated from the vertical stress σ_v , initial pore pressure p_o , the ratio between effective horizontal and vertical stress (K_0). When we assume that the horizontal stresses are primarily governed by elastic depositional history, the K_0 value and dynamic undrained Poisson's ratio (μ) can be calculated from equations 2.1 and 2.2, which again are derived based on the compressional and shear wave velocities (V_p and V_s) using elastic equation from Eq.2.3;

$$\sigma_h = K_o(\sigma_v - p_o) + p_o \tag{2.1}$$

$$K_0 = \frac{\mu}{1-\mu} \tag{2.2}$$

$$\mu = \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left(\frac{V_p}{V_s}\right)^2 - 2}{\left(\frac{V_p}{V_s}\right)^2 - 1}$$
(2.3)

The stress estimation methods described above may involve some uncertainties because of our lack of knowledge about the factors affecting the in-situ stresses. The estimate of the vertical stresses is relatively accurate because of the robust theoretical basis about the relationship between the overburden loading and the density. However, the pore pressure and the horizontal stress estimation from well-logs involves uncertainties

p:\2021\05\20210518\calculations and wp activities\wp5 risk quantification\reports\d5.1_input uncertainty quantification\rev1\20210518-01r_input_uncertainty_quantification_v1_final_published.docx related to simplification behind its estimation model. Although the estimates of horizontal stresses are based on simplified physical models (e.g., elasticity and uniaxial strain conditions during compaction), the horizontal stresses can be governed by visco-plastic behaviour during complex geological histories and tectonic stresses. A limitation of the model is that sometimes S-wave logs are missing. Estimating S-wave velocity from other log information can result in another layer of uncertainties in the stress estimation.

2.2 Static rock mechanical properties

This section will outline a few example methods that are widely used to derive depth profiles of geomechanical properties by combining information from well logs and laboratory-measured properties.

Triaxial tests are the most common and standard method to measure geomechanical properties directly. A standard triaxial test typically uses small cores that are 1.0 - 1.5 inches (0.0254 - 0.0381 m) in diameter and twice the diameter in height. The test setup can control stresses/deformation in the vertical and horizontal directions and pore pressures to simulate various in-situ stresses and stress paths. The static elastic modulus is typically estimated from a tangential slope of a stress-strain curve at a 50% peak stress level. The shear strength can be measured by the peak stress during shear loading. Because of the relatively high cost of coring from a wellbore and triaxial tests, the number of tests is typically limited to 1 or 2 tests for a specific layer, and the tests are commonly used to calibrate the preliminary results estimated from indirect measurement(s).

Empirical correlations between rock mechanical properties and the acoustic or petrophysical properties are commonly used for preliminary estimation of rock mechanical properties. The coefficients of the empirical correlation are typically determined by a regression model using multiple observations from laboratories and fields. Wave velocity, resistivity, and petrophysical properties (e.g., porosity) are pair attributes widely used as inputs for empirical correlations. For example, undrained Young's modulus and uniaxial compressive strength (UCS) can be derived from a compressional sonic log by the empirical correlation from Horsrud (2001). The correlations are based on laboratory-measured rock-mechanical properties and V_p in km/s using the North Sea mudstones and shales. The correlations for the undrained Young's modulus in GPa and the UCS in MPa are expressed in equations 2.4 and 2.5, respectively.

$$E = 0.076 \cdot V_p^{3.23} \tag{2.4}$$

$$UCS = 0.77 \cdot V_n^{2.93} \tag{2.5}$$

Dynamic- to static-modulus conversion is also one of the widely used method to get a static elastic property profile from wave velocities. The equations for dynamic Young's

modulus (E_{dyn}) and dynamic Poisson's ratio (v_{dyn}) using wave velocities (V_p and V_s) and a density (ρ) are:

$$E_{dyn} = \frac{\rho V_s^2 (3V_p^2 - 4V_s^2)}{(V_p^2 - V_s^2)}$$
(2.6)

$$\nu_{dyn} = \frac{\left(V_p^2 - 2V_s^2\right)}{2\left(V_p^2 - V_s^2\right)}$$
(2.7)

The dynamic modulus is typically several times higher than a static modulus. The reason for the observed significant discrepancy between dynamic and static properties is known to be from various reasons, including the effect of strain rate, drainage condition, heterogeneities, anisotropy, strain amplitude, etc. (Fjær, 2019). Because of its complexity related to factors affecting the elastic properties, it is not straightforward to include all factors into the model that can convert dynamic to elastic properties. Instead, it is common to use a ratio between dynamic- and static- stiffness. According to Grande and Cuisiat (2008), static undrained shear modulus of shale from the North Sea is 3-5 times lower than that from lab-measured dynamic stiffness. For a sandstone from the North Sea, the weak rock tends to have higher discrepancy between static and dynamic stiffness (e.g., an order of magnitude difference) than a stiff cemented rock (e.g., 20-30% discrepancy for well cemented Berea sandstone) (Fjær et al., 2008). The differences between dynamic- and static- stiffness with higher confining stresses.

Similar to the limitation mentioned earlier about the in-situ stress profile estimation, the models used to estimate the rock mechanical properties partly or fully rely on empirical correlations. Hence, they naturally involve uncertainty stemming from simplifications and missing/incomplete physical understanding in the empirical correlation. In particular, the discrepancy between laboratory and field condition can result in uncertainties in the estimation. Most correlations between velocity and mechanical properties have been calibrated based on observation pairs from laboratories (e.g., laboratory-measured V_p vs. static properties), but are used to make predictions between the field and the laboratory (e.g., temperature, heterogeneity and anisotropy from microfractures, borehole quality, mud invasion) can result in estimation errors.

3 Types of uncertainty

Quantifying and propagating uncertainties in engineering problems requires recognizing and identifying sources and types of uncertainty. This section discusses these. Section 3.1 briefly introduces a more philosophically-oriented epistemic/aleatory classification of uncertainties. Understanding this distinction is important because, to some degree, it shapes one's strategies for dealing with uncertainties in practice. Section 3.2 then discusses a more application-oriented classification of uncertainties. The goal is to present a comprehensive overview of the key uncertainty types and not an exhaustive

NGI

discussion of all components involved in geomechanical assessment of reservoir and seal integrity. Section 3.3 provides more context by discussing predicting modulus of elasticity from sonic log data.

When discussing uncertainty quantification for a problem in a specific domain, a careful use of terminology is warranted to prevent confusions between the mathematical uncertainty quantification and statistical terminology on one hand and the domain-specific terminology on the other. For instance, the term "parameter" may be understood as soil or rock property (e.g., friction angle or UCS) in an engineering context, while in a statistical modelling context "parameter" usually refers to unknown, un-observable quantities that are estimated from data (e.g. mean, variance or regression coefficients are statistical parameters). Therefore, when considering uncertainty quantification, UCS would be referred to as observable data (or random variable), while *mean* UCS would be a (statistical) parameter. The coefficients of the regression models in Equations 2.4 and 2.5 are also parameters.

Finally, it is noted that in this section, the term geotechnical engineering refers to both soil and rock engineering as there is considerable overlap between the uncertainty quantification literature on the two.

3.1 Aleatory and epistemic uncertainties

Uncertainty is often characterised as either *epistemic* or *aleatory*, according to its source: epistemic uncertainty is attributed to imperfect knowledge while aleatory uncertainty arises from the inherent randomness or variability in systems (e.g., Ferson and Ginzburg, 1996; O'Hagan and Oakley, 2004; see also, e.g., Baecher and Christian (2005) for a discussion in the context of geotechnical engineering). The term epistemic is derived from the Greek word "episteme", which means knowledge, and aleatory uncertainties are sometimes thought of as reducible and irreducible uncertainties, respectively. That is, by definition, epistemic uncertainty can be reduced by obtaining better or more information about the system while the natural randomness in the system cannot be reduced.

Among others, O'Hagan and Oakley (2004) discuss a more nuanced point of view where it is argued that what is referred to as irreducible randomness in a system would be eliminated (or at least reduced) if we were able to recognise and specify more conditions within our description of the system. Therefore, any uncertainty reduced in such a manner must really have been epistemic. As an example, consider the uniaxial compressive strength (UCS) of intact rock for which we have many laboratory tests on intact rock specimens from the same formation. We can construct a simple probabilistic model, say, a normal distribution with two parameters mean and variance. It is noted a normal distribution is used here as an example because it admits the possibility of negative values at the left hand tail of the distribution, which for properties like stress or young's modulus are generally non-physical. The randomness or "residual variance" estimated by such model is considered to be natural variability and thus irreducible. However, it is possible to argue that by adopting for example a micro-mechanics framework and considering contributions of individual constituents of the material to its macro-scale properties, one could "explain" some of the above-mentioned randomness and obtain more accurate predictions of UCS for individual specimens. This is essentially the argument of *determinism* that *if we knew the exact position and velocity of every particle, we could predict the future exactly, and thus all uncertainty is epistemic in nature*. O'Hagan and Oakley (2004) further add that perhaps true randomness exists in some phenomena as suggested by quantum physics. However, this does not extend to the scales on which most models (including those used in engineering) operate. Therefore, although philosophically somewhat disputed, it is useful to maintain the conceptual aleatory/epistemic distinction in the context of engineering problems:

- it is important to quantify aleatory uncertainty for quantities whose measurements exhibit variation and no effort is made in gaining better understanding of the factors contributing to this uncertainty (or, it is impractical to do so at an engineering scale); and,
- identifying the epistemic portions of uncertainty is equally important, for instance to address the issue of parameter uncertainty due to limited data. Furthermore, quantifying epistemic uncertainty allows for better allocation of resources for uncertainty reduction.

Other than the aleatory/epistemic classification, there are also taxonomies of uncertainty that are more application-oriented and hence more suitable for engineering practice. The following section discusses such classifications in more detail.

3.2 An application-oriented classification of uncertainties

Engineering reliability, risk and decision problems are solved within the confines of a model universe (Der Kiureghian and Ditlevsen, 2009). The model universe contains a set of physical and probabilistic models, which are mathematical idealizations of reality employed to render a solution for the problem at hand. This is also comparable to the concept of the small world from foundations of statistics and decision theory which refers to the self-contained logical world of a model (Savage, 1972). The model universe may contain inherently uncertain quantities; e.g. there is variation in laboratory measurements of modulus of elasticity of intact rock. Another possibility is that a quantity might be measured with insufficient precision, or indirectly, i.e. estimated from other (proxy) physical properties; an example of this is finding modulus of elasticity Efrom in-situ P-wave data Vp. The sub-models in the model universe are also imperfect, giving rise to additional uncertainties. For instance, the empirical regression model used for transforming Vp data to modulus of elasticity is not perfect. Therefore, quantification and propagation of uncertainties should address these uncertainties. Furthermore, as mentioned earlier in the UCS example, the nature and character of uncertainties should be discussed within the confines of the model universe.

There is no unique taxonomy of uncertainties, but most of the existing ones include classifications such as parameter uncertainty, model inadequacy (or method

uncertainty), residual variability, parametric variability, observation (measurement) error and code or computational uncertainty (e.g. Kennedy and O'Hagan, 2001), all of which are relevant and understood to some degree in engineering. Sections 3.2.1-3.3.3 discuss parameter, model, measurement and computational uncertainty in more detail and with reference to data involved in risk assessment for CO₂ storage containment. Furthermore, context-dependent comments about aleatory or epistemic nature of each of these uncertainties are provided. To facilitate these discussions, first terminology and a rather simple notation are introduced.

We refer to basic random variables as those that are input to the engineering model(s) (e.g., geo-material strength and stiffness properties, in-situ stresses and geometrical data). They can be scalar or vector and are denoted as Y. Parameters on the other hand are the unknown quantities (e.g. mean, standard deviation, regression coefficients) that are estimated from data, and denoted θ . There are other random variables that are not necessarily direct input to the engineering models but are used (e.g. as proxy measures) to predict basic random variables. An example of this is in-situ P-wave velocity well log data used to predict static rock mechanical properties. These are denoted X.

When measured directly, basic random variables are characterised using probabilistic sub-models f_Y with (statistical) parameters θ_f , denoted $f_Y(\mathbf{Y}; \theta_f)$. For example, f could be a normal distribution with parameters θ_f mean and standard deviation and used for modelling the basic random variable UCS.

Due to high costs and difficulties involved with direct measurements, it is common to establish and use empirical relationships between proxy variables X and the random variables of interest Y. That is, the variable of interest Y is obtained by *transforming* the easier-to-measure variable(s) X, usually via empirical relationships that are commonly referred to as empirical transformations or correlations in the geotechnical literature. This can be thought of as *indirect measurement* of Y. Transformation models are denoted T_Y with parameters θ_T , hence $T_Y(Y, X; \theta_T)$. Empirical relationships addressed in Section 2 (e.g., relationship between wave velocities and the in-situ stresses/static rock mechanical properties) are examples of commonly used transformation in reservoir geomechanics.

Finally, the (directly measured or transformed) basic random variables are used as input to engineering model $M(\mathbf{Y}; \boldsymbol{\theta}_M)$; predicting caprock integrity during CO₂ injection, a 3D field-scale geomechanical model or an analytical approach using Mohr-Coulomb failure criterion are examples of the engineering model $M(\mathbf{Y}; \boldsymbol{\theta}_M)$. This aspect of models is not the focus of this document and is merely mentioned for completeness.

3.2.1 Parameter uncertainty

There is inherent uncertainty (aleatory randomness) associated with the directly measured basic random variables Y. This randomness is captured by the dispersion parameter (e.g. standard deviation, variance, coefficient of variation) of the distribution $f_Y(Y; \theta_f)$. For a given statistical model $f_Y(Y; \theta_f)$, this uncertainty does not reduce with

NGI

obtaining more data, and only better (more precise) estimates of the dispersion parameter could be obtained.

The (statistical) parameters θ_f (including the dispersion parameter) are *estimated* from observed data and are thus uncertain. This uncertainty is usually referred to as (statistical) parameter uncertainty and is epistemic in nature: it reduces as we obtain more data. For instance, the standard error¹ of the sampling distribution of the mean is proportional to $1/\sqrt{n}$ where *n* is the sample size (see also section 4.1). That is, as more data become available, the mean is estimated with a higher precision. This possibility of reduction in uncertainty implies epistemic uncertainty.

It is emphasized again that such discussions of aleatory/epistemic uncertainty are only justified within the confines of the specified model. For instance, a statistical model that accounts for spatial variability of UCS may result in smaller residual variance, and hence implies smaller unmodelled randomness. Such a model would also have different parameters and thus different epistemic uncertainty compared to the simple parametric distribution $f_Y(Y; \theta_f)$.

Similar arguments could be made for transformed variables Y. The transformation $T_Y(Y, X; \theta_T)$ is usually formulated as a regression model with Y as the response (also known as outcome or dependent) variable and X as the predictors (also known as independent or regressor) variables. The vector θ_T includes the regression coefficients and the residual variance of Y and is estimated with less uncertainty as larger data become available.

3.2.2 Model uncertainty

Models are abstract mathematical idealizations of real-world processes. They are based on assumptions and simplifications, and thus no model can really be said to be perfect or correct. This is perhaps best stated by Box and Draper (1987) in their famous statement "*all models are wrong, but some are useful*". This is particularly true from a practical engineering point of view where many models give sufficiently accurate predictions that allow analysis and design. Model uncertainty is undoubtedly epistemic: it is always possible to improve the model and hence reduce the uncertainty by, for example, including more descriptive parameters, adopting more realistic assumptions, or employing a different functional form all together.

Model uncertainty – also called model error, model bias, method bias, method uncertainty, or model omissions in different fields of science and engineering – is generally defined as the difference between the true mean value of the real-world process and the model output at the true values of the inputs (e.g. Kennedy and O'Hagan, 2001; Der Kiureghian and Ditlevsen, 2009). This difference is often characterised using a random variable, the statistical properties (usually mean and standard deviation) of

¹ The term "standard error" is used in the frequentist statistics literature and refers to the standard deviation of the sampling distribution of parameters; the term "standard deviation" is used when discussing variability of observed data. In the Bayesian context (see section 4.2.1) the term standard deviation is used for both.

 $p:\label{eq:loss} $$ 2021\05\20210518\calculations and wp activities\wp5 risk quantification\reports\d5.1_input uncertainty quantification\rev1\20210518-01-r_input_uncertainty_quantification_v1_final_published.docx $$ and $$$

which are estimated from data gathered on the real-world process, and further used as a correction or modifying factor when using the model for making predictions, or for design in an engineering context.

The terms "model" and "model uncertainty" could refer to different things as discussed in the following.

Physical models

A model $M(Y; \theta_M)$ could describe a physical or mechanical phenomena. For example, using the theory of elasticity, the Kirsch solution allows determination of the stresses and displacements around a circular excavation. A basic soil engineering example is calculating the total stress as the sum of the effective stress and pore water pressure. Models could also be considerably more complex mathematical descriptions of much larger engineering problems, e.g. a finite element model for caprock integrity assessment. In geomechanical engineering practice, reliable quantification of the modelling error arising in such complex models could be very challenging or even impossible due to our inability in obtaining sufficiently large number of measurements of the model output to be compared with model predictions. It is noted that model calibration procedures could themselves involve other types of uncertainty, e.g., measurement error, transformation uncertainty and parameter uncertainty; these are usually neglected when quantifying the uncertainty in geotechnical models.

Probabilistic models

Model could also refer to statistical/probabilistic models, and thus model error (uncertainty) could result from selection of the form of the parametric probability density function (PDF) $f_Y(Y; \theta_f)$, or the functional form of the transformation equation $T_Y(Y, X; \theta_T)$, or the choice of which predictors X to include in the model. For example, one could choose among many distributions – say normal, lognormal, gamma, weibull, and student t-distribution – for statistical modelling of modulus of elasticity of intact rock. In case of transformed variables, one example from rock engineering is the numerous available choices of empirical equations relating modulus of elasticity E of intact rock and its UCS where some of them are linear and some non-linear; some include only UCS and E while others include various combinations of parameters such as unit weight of the rock, point load test, P-wave velocity, Schmidt hammer rebound values and void ratio (e.g., Feng and Jimenez, 2014). Another example is the diverse collection of empirical relationships for predicting undrained shear strength of soils from CPT and other soil engineering data (e.g., Paniagua et al., 2019).

In a practical setting, when dealing with the above-described statistical model uncertainty, it is important to check the goodness-of-fit of individual models to the data. Note that this should ideally go beyond statistical tests that are based on null hypothesis testing (e.g. Anderson-Darling or Kolmogrov-Smirnov) designed to reject/fail-to-reject a hypothesized distribution type. In doing so, we suggest following Gelman et al. (2013) who recommended judging model flaws by their practical implications for the inference or prediction of interest. Another step is to consider multiple models with reasonable fits and compare their predictive accuracy. Then, either model selection or statistical model

NGI

Document no.: 20210518-01-R Date: 2022-04-26 Rev.no.: 1 Page: 18

averaging should be considered. Detailed discussions of model checking, comparison and selection are beyond the scope of this document and may be found in e.g. the seminal text by Gelman et al. (2013) or the overview provided by Bozorgzadeh and Bathurst (2019) with geotechnical applications in mind. It is nevertheless noted that, unfortunately, rigorous statistical model checking, model comparison, model selection and model averaging are not routinely performed for geotechnical applications. When dealing with statistical model uncertainty, it is common to not explore the model uncertainty associated with f_Y and select a distribution due to convenience or convention.

Transformation uncertainty

Empirical transformations are essentially regression models, and thus all the abovementioned probabilistic model uncertainties apply to them. In geotechnical literature however, *the residual variation of the regression is referred to as transformation (or correlation) uncertainty*. For example, when predicting *E* from *Vp*, Equation 2.4 gives the mean (i.e. best) prediction of *E*, and the residual standard deviation of the regression is considered to be the uncertainty in *E* arising from using this equation. Furthermore, it is noteworthy that the uncertainties in the parameters of the model (i.e. the regression coefficients) is typically ignored in current practice. Quantifying this uncertainty is crucial for updating generic empirical correlations with site-specific data using Bayesian techniques. Essentially, estimations (with uncertainty) of parameters of the empirical equation using generic data are used for specifying "prior" distributions in Bayesian analysis of site-specific data. For more details see Section 4.2.

3.2.3 Other types of uncertainty

Measurement error

Measurement error refers to imprecisions associated with measuring variables of interest due to reasons such as limitations of equipment or operational conditions. Another related error is the between-equipment variation; that it, any systematic differences (on average) between measurements of the same quantity obtained by different equipment.

Computational uncertainty

There are also numerical approximation and computational errors. For instance, using finite difference for solving a differential equation, or errors arising from convergence tolerances in a finite element analysis. Monte Carlo error is another example of common computational errors.

In the context of geotechnical engineering in general, and CO_2 storage risk assessment in particular, the above measurement and computational uncertainties are expected to be negligible compared to the (aleatory) residual uncertainty in variables, (epistemic) statistical parameter uncertainty, and model uncertainty (including transformation uncertainty).

3.3 An illustrative example

This section provides more context to the uncertainties discussed in section 3.2 by exploring the key steps involved in estimating static Young's modulus E from P-wave velocity V_p log data. Figure 3 gives a visual summary of the procedures and uncertainties; both direct and indirect measurements are considered.

3.3.1 Indirect measurement

Indirect measurement refers to the situation where semi-continuous V_p well log data are available. The 1D profile of V_p is typically obtained from a well log and exhibits variation with depth. In the schematic of Figure 3, this spatial variability is carried over to the next step of analysis and dealt with in a future step.



Figure 3 Schematic overview of uncertainties involved in obtaining E from Vp.

The V_p data are input to generic empirical transformations for obtaining E (e.g. Equation 2.4). As mentioned earlier in section 3.2.2, unfortunately uncertainties arising from multiple regression models being available (i.e. multiple functional forms of the transformation, what predictors (independent variables) to include in the regression model, and what probability distribution to use for the residual error) are overlooked in engineering practice. In such situations, at least a brief engineering justification of applicability of the selected empirical equation should be presented. An alternative approach, especially where such the justifications are not compelling, is to apply other empirical equation(s) as sensitivity studies, with the aim of understanding the associated variation.

Document no.: 20210518-01-R Date: 2022-04-26 Rev.no.: 1 Page: 20

With a single transformation equation selected, two components of uncertainty should be considered. First is the parameter uncertainty associated with the coefficients of the generic empirical transformation equation. When incorporated correctly, this uncertainty translates to uncertainty in *mean* modulus of elasticity and is depicted as the shaded grey area in Figure 3. Moreover, quantifying this uncertainty is crucial for situations where site-specific measurements of *E* are available and it is intended to combine them with a generic correlation. Second, the residual variability associated with the empirical transformation equation should be considered. As mentioned in section 3.2.2, this is generally referred to as transformation uncertainty in the geotechnical literature and quantifies the variability in *E* when predicted from a proxy predictor like V_p and can be used to obtain the quantiles of the distribution of *E* at each depth.

As Figure 3 shows, the uncertain transformed E can be summarized with five profiles: mean, lower and upper bounds of the confidence interval for the mean (shaded grey area) and lower and upper quantiles of the probability distribution of E (dashed profiles). All such profiles exhibit variation with depth due to spatial variability of the regression input V_p . As will be discussed in section 4.3, each profile can be modelled as the sum of a deterministic trend component, a randomly fluctuating term and measurement error. As an example, Figure 3 shows a best fit (mean) linear trend and a lower quantile linear trend to the spatially variable lower quantile E. Note that the spatially variable lower quantile profile is influenced by the transformation uncertainty, and the lower linear quantile further includes the effect of spatial variation with depth. The variance required for calculating the former is the residual variance of the transformation equation and the variance required for obtaining the latter is usually estimated from a simplified procedure from random field theory as discussed in section 4.3.1.

It is equally valid to perform the spatial analysis on the input V_p in the first step, i.e. obtain best fit and lower bound linear trends, and transform those into *E*. The illustrated procedure in Figure 3, however, gives a more comprehensive visual summary because the actual spatial variability of each of the five profiles can be shown alongside the simplified spatial model.

3.3.2 Direct and indirect measurement

Direct measurement of E refers to laboratory testing of rock specimens that are obtained from specific depths of a borehole at the site of the current project for which the corresponding in-situ V_p is also known. Therefore, the data consist of site-specific pairs of E and V_p . These data can be used in a Bayesian analysis (see section 4.2) to *update* the generic transformation to obtain quasi-site-specific profiles of E. As more sitespecific data become available, the transformation becomes more site-specific and less generic.

4 Methods for quantifying uncertainty involved in spatiallyaveraged inputs

The uncertainties stemming from sources discussed in section 3 should be quantified using probabilistic models and statistical data analysis techniques. To this end, this section briefly discusses statistical concepts and methods that are required for analysing a profile of geomechanical model inputs listed in section 2. It should be noted that, for any of the discussed cases, there is a multitude of approaches and methodologies to be adopted and not all of them are discussed here.

Section 4.1 introduces confidence intervals for the mean of a scalar random variable. Section 4.2 points out a number of frequently arising situations that call for more nuanced statistical approaches. Finally, section 4.3 discusses 1-dimensional spatially variable data.

4.1 Confidence in estimated values

It was discussed in section 3 that when statistical parameters (e.g., mean) are estimated from noisy and variable data (e.g., lab measurements of UCS), there will be uncertainty associated with them. In the classical or frequentist statistics framework this uncertainty is quantified using confidence intervals². Confidence intervals have the general form

point estimate
$$\pm$$
 critical statistics value \times standard error (4.1)

The critical statistics and standard error are related to the sampling distribution of the parameter that is being considered, e.g., a student *t*-distribution for the mean and a Chi-squared distribution for the variance of a normally distributed random variable. The critical statistics value also depends on the selected target level of confidence.

A 100(1- α) % confidence interval for the mean of random variable *Y* is

$$\bar{y} \pm t_{\left(n-1,\frac{\alpha}{2}\right)} \times \frac{s}{\sqrt{n}} \tag{4.2}$$

Where \bar{y} is the estimated mean, $t_{(n-1,\alpha/2)}$ is the 100(1- α)-*th* quantile of a student *t*-distribution with *n*-1 degrees of freedom, *s* is the sample standard deviation and *n* the sample size; s/\sqrt{n} is the standard error, i.e. the standard deviation of the sampling distribution of the mean. For example, if n = 10 UCS measurements with mean $\bar{y} =$

² Strictly speaking, this is incorrect. Confidence intervals quantify confidence in the procedure and not the parameter; they should be interpreted with respect to a hypothetical long-run sequence of repeated similar experiments. For instance, a 95% confidence interval does not imply that there is 95% probability that the parameter lies between the lower and upper bounds of the interval. Rather, it means that if we would have repeated the experiment many times and constructed a confidence interval from the data obtained in each experiment, then 95% of these confidence intervals would contain the true value of the parameter. However, it is common in practice to adopt the first (incorrect) interpretation for confidence intervals. This is sometimes justifiable by assuming that such confidence intervals are more-or-less the same as Bayesian credible intervals obtained with non-informative priors.

 $p:\2021\05\20210518\calculations and wp activities\wp5 risk quantification\reports\d5.1_input uncertainty quantification\rev1\20210518-01-r_input_uncertainty_quantification_v1_final_published.docx$

10.0 *MPa* and standard deviation s = 2.0 MPa, then the 95% confidence interval for the mean is calculated as $10.0 \pm 2.26 \times \frac{2.0}{\sqrt{10}}$, thus (8.57, 11.43). It is clear from the above equation that obtaining more data (i.e. larger *n*) results in narrower confidence intervals, hence reduced uncertainty.

A 100(1- α) % prediction interval (i.e. a likely range for a future observation) for a normally distributed random variable *Y* is

$$\bar{y} \pm t_{\left(n-1,\frac{\alpha}{2}\right)} \times s \sqrt{1 + \frac{1}{n}}$$
(4.3)

In the previous UCS tests example, assuming UCS is normally distributed, a 95% prediction interval for UCS is (5.69, 14.31) which is wider than the confidence interval for the mean (8.57, 11.43). The confidence interval includes uncertainties in determining the mean. The prediction interval covers data scatter or data variability around the mean in addition to uncertainties in determining mean. Thus, the prediction interval tends to be wider than a confidence interval.

Analytical formulations of confidence and prediction intervals do not exist for all parameters and models, e.g. for non-linear regression models. One powerful alternative for such situations is bootstrapping which involves re-sampling with replacement from the original data to estimate the properties of an estimator. Exploring the bootstrap method is beyond the scope of this report. More information may be found in e.g., Efron (1992) and Efron and Tibshirani (1994).

It is also possible to adopt a Bayesian framework instead of the classical (frequentist) statistics. Suitability of Bayesian methods for rock and soil engineering applications has been long recognized (see for example review papers Baecher (2017), Juang and Zhang (2017), and Zhang et al. (2017)), with a considerable increase in their usage in the past decade or so. The following section discusses some situations where Bayesian methods are particularly useful.

4.2 Combining data and other sources of information

There are many instances in soil and rock engineering projects where site-specific data are available. These data are usually limited in quantity and do not allow for fully site-specific parameter estimations. Nevertheless, it is desirable to include these data in the statistical analyses, e.g. in conjunction with generic empirical correlations. Another example is information about in-situ stress data. Information could be available at different levels, e.g. qualitative descriptions by geologists, historical data, data from more recent adjacent projects, and expert engineering judgement. The Bayesian approach to statistics provides a framework for tackling such challenges.

4.2.1 A brief introduction to Bayesian statistics

Bayesian statistics is not different from the classical (frequentist) statistical methods in the sense that the purpose of both is to make statistical inference. However, there is a fundamental theoretical difference between the two approaches. The frequentist methods treat observations (data) as random variables, and the unobservable quantities that one wishes to learn about (i.e. statistical parameters such as mean and standard deviation) as constant unknowns that are estimated from the data and accompanied by confidence intervals as a measure of reliability of these estimates. On the other hand, in Bayesian statistics probability models are applied to both the observations and the statistical parameters (Gelman et al., 2013). In other words, not only are the data treated as random variables but also the parameters of the statistical model are treated as such.

Assume the intention is to learn about a set of (unobservable) statistical parameters θ (e.g. the mean and variance of a normal distribution) in terms of a probability model by obtaining some data y. A Bayesian model is constructed by defining a full joint probability model for all observable (y) and unobservable quantities (θ)

$$f(\theta, y) = f(\theta) \cdot f(y|\theta)$$
(4.4)

where $f(\theta)$ is known as the prior distribution and summarises – in the form of a probability density function – all of the available information about the parameter θ before observing the data y. $f(y|\theta)$ is known as the likelihood function, and is the probability distribution of the data assuming they arise from the model with parameters θ . Obtaining new data y provides further information about the parameter θ . Consequently, the prior distribution $f(\theta)$ must be updated to account for the newly available data. To do so, the right-hand side of equation 4.4 could be rewritten to include the new known values of y – that is

$$f(\theta, y) = f(y) \cdot f(\theta|y)$$
(4.5)

Combining equations 4.4 and 4.5 and rearranging gives the Bayes' theorem

$$f(\theta|y) = \frac{f(\theta) \cdot f(y|\theta)}{f(y)}$$
(4.6)

The term $f(\theta|y)$ is known as the posterior distribution and reads as 'the probability distribution of θ given y'. $f(\theta|y)$ reflects the updated state of knowledge about θ after observing the data y. The f(y) term is a constant, as it only depends on the known values of data and ensures that the posterior distribution integrates to unity as required by the axioms of probability. One of the features of the Bayesian approach is that it allows common-sense interpretations of statistical conclusions. For instance, a Bayesian credible region or credible interval can be directly interpreted as containing an unknown parameter with a specified probability, in contrast to frequentist confidence intervals that must be strictly interpreted in relation to a sequence of similar inferences that might be made in repeated practice, as discussed in section 4.1.

p:\2021\05\20210518\calculations and wp activities\wp5 risk quantification\reports\d5.1_input uncertainty quantification\rev1\20210518-01r_input_uncertainty_quantification_v1_final_published.docx

Document no.: 20210518-01-R Date: 2022-04-26 Rev.no.: 1 Page: 24

Prior distributions

Another distinctive feature of the Bayesian approach is the requirement to specify the prior distribution $f(\theta)$. This allows other type of relevant information, e.g., historical data, engineering judgement, and regional information to be introduced into the analysis for a specific project/site. For example, the posterior distribution from one analysis can be used, directly or modified by an expert, as a prior distribution for a subsequent analysis. This feature of the Bayesian framework can be used in soil and rock engineering to augment project-specific data logically with related available information from elsewhere.

Prior distributions that are based on sources of information other than current data are known as informative prior distributions, and through application of equation 4.6 they strongly influence the posterior $f(\theta|y)$. On the other hand, vague (also known as non-informative) priors are those that convey little knowledge, have minimal influence on the posterior and allow the data to dominate the posterior distributions. Thus, vague priors result in inferences and predictions similar to those obtained from frequentist (classical) models, in which there is no possibility of using prior information. Loosely speaking, vague priors can be defined using flat probability distributions (i.e. no distinct peak to the probability density function) – for example, a uniform distribution or a normal distribution with a very large variance (relative to the range of the data) – but they must be selected considering the physical or mathematical limitations of the parameters of the model. For instance, compressive strength of rock is physically restricted to be positive, and variance is positive by definition.

Specifying informative or weakly informative prior distributions is neither an automatic nor a straightforward task (Lunn et al., 2012). If expert judgment is to be used, a series of techniques generally known as "expert elicitation" should be followed. In simple terms, expert elicitation guidelines provide a framework for expressing expert knowledge in a probabilistic format while guarding against known cognitive biases and heuristics (e.g., O'Hagan et al., 2006).

Another suggestion for specifying prior distributions in the geotechnical literature is using uniform prior distributions over typical ranges of the parameter of interest reported in the literature (e.g., Cao et al., 2016). This approach usually results in priors that are very wide relative to the limited site-specific data and thus not really informative.

However, if data from multiple sources (other than project-specific data) are considered, then hierarchical Bayesian models could be used for formulating informative prior distributions. Although hierarchical modelling has a long history in the Bayesian statistics literature, they have only recently been considered seriously for geotechnical applications. Using strength of intact rock as an example, Bozorgzadeh et al. (2019) discuss how informative priors can be constructed from relevant historical data. Ching and Phoon (2019) and Ching et al. (2022) are recent examples of application of hierarchical models for predicting soil engineering parameters from empirical relationships based on Cone Penetrate Test (CPT) data. Bozorgzadeh and Bathurst

NGI

(2020) discuss similar procedures for updating site-specific model uncertainty using mechanically stabilized earth walls as an example.

No matter what source of information, there is always subjectivity involved in specifying informative priors and thus transparency is key in communicating them. It is important to document any selected and left-out data, the reasoning and assumptions, and elicitation procedures.

More details on mathematical issues, and discussions on practical considerations for selecting prior distributions, may be found in key texts, e.g. Lunn et al. (2012) and Gelman et al. (2013).

Bayesian computation

Analytically tractable posterior distribution calculations (i.e. the right-hand side of Equation 4.6 simplifies to a known parametric distribution) only exist for a limited number of simple Bayesian models, most of which involve cases where the prior distributions for the parameters of the likelihood give posterior distributions of the same family as the prior distributions. Such a prior is said to be conjugate for the likelihood function. For example, the normal and gamma distributions are conjugate priors for the mean and precision (reciprocal of variance) of the normal likelihood, respectively.

The concept of conjugacy is mostly of theoretical and historical importance and not particularly relevant in modern practical Bayesian data analysis. Modern Bayesian model fitting is dominantly performed using a class of sampling algorithms known as Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC). Probabilistic programming languages and software such as Stan (Stan Development Team, 2022) are widely used for this purpose.

4.3 1-D trend data

Spatial variability is not another type of uncertainty like parameter and model uncertainties, but rather a challenge that calls for a special class of statistical models, and thus there is merit in discussing it in more detail. Properties of geo-material vary from one point in space to another. This is usually referred to as spatial variability. Furthermore, these properties exhibit strong spatial correlations both vertically and horizontally. In other words, and informally, the points closer to each other show more similarity in properties. Spatial variability of geo-material is usually modelled using methods such as random fields, time series data analysis techniques, or kriging. These methods are relatively involved and difficult to employ in a practical setting. The following discusses a simplified approach from random fields for dealing with 1-D vertical spatial variability.

Consider a CPT profile or sonic log Vp measurements that show variation with depth (e.g. see Figure 3). This spatial variability, $\varepsilon(z)$, can be modelled as the sum of a deterministic trend component, t(z), a randomly fluctuating term w(z) and measurement error e(z) (Baecher, 1985; Nadim, 1988; Phoon and Kulhawy, 1999):

$$\varepsilon(z) = t(z) + w(z) + e(z) \tag{4.7}$$

The mean u and standard deviation σ for the property can be determined as follows:

$$u_{\varepsilon} = t(z) \tag{4.8}$$

$$\sigma_{\varepsilon}^2 = \sigma_w^2 + \sigma_e^2 \tag{4.9}$$

Therefore, the coefficient of variation (COV) of $\varepsilon(z)$, defined as $\sigma_{\varepsilon}/u_{\varepsilon}$, is given by

$$COV_{\varepsilon}^2 = COV_w^2 + COV_e^2 \tag{4.10}$$

The residuals of the trend w(z) tend to exhibit remaining spatial correlation. Spatial averaging is a concept with which spatial variability is averaged to approximate a random variable that represents a spatially varying parameter (Vanmarcke, 1977). In random field theory, the spatial variability of a parameter can be described statistically by the mean, variance, and the scale of fluctuation, δ (Vanmarcke, 1977). The scale of fluctuation defines the distance over which there is a significant correlation of property values. While the mean and variance (or standard deviation) are easily obtained using equations from statistics, the scale of fluctuation has specific data requirements and, generally, its evaluation requires more complex analyses.

The main requirement for evaluating the scale of fluctuation is the stationarity of data. Data are stationary if they satisfy the following conditions: (a) the mean is constant with distance (that is, no trend exists in the data); (b) the variance is constant with distance; and (c) there are no irregular fluctuations. Vanmarcke (1983) suggested that the scale of fluctuation be defined as twice the area under the autocorrelation function of the stationary random variable (see Figure 4):

Scale of fluctuation
$$\delta = 2 \int_0^\infty \rho(\tau) d\tau$$
 (4.11)

where ρ is the autocorrelation function of the random process.

Document no.: 20210518-01-R Date: 2022-04-26 Rev.no.: 1 Page: 27



Figure 4 Derivation of scale of fluctuation from the autocorrelation function (Vanmarcke, 1983).

A variance reduction factor Γ is derived in terms of a scale of fluctuation δ and an averaging distance *L*. The scale of fluctuation, sometimes called correlation length within the framework of the random field, defines the distances over which there is a significant correlation of the geotechnical parameter in question. Small and large scales of fluctuation define rough and smooth random fields, respectively. In the limits, a scale of fluctuation of zero indicates no spatial correlation (infinitely rough field, white noise) while a scale of fluctuation of infinity indicates a completely uniform field. The averaging distance is defined as the interval over which the parameter of interest is averaged.

The following approximate variance reduction function was proposed by (Vanmarcke, 1983) for practical applications:

$$\Gamma^{2}(L) = \begin{cases} 1 & \text{for } L = \delta_{v} \\ \frac{\delta_{v}}{L} & \text{for } L > \delta_{v} \end{cases}$$

$$(4.12)$$

where δ_v is the scale of fluctuation in the vertical direction.

Fenton and Griffiths (2008) suggested the following approximation for Γ , which is more accurate for small values of *L*:

$$\Gamma^2(L) \approx \frac{\delta}{\delta + L}$$
 (4.13)

There are various statistical techniques available in the geotechnical literature for the estimation of scale of fluctuation. Several studies have reported values of scale of

NGI

Document no.: 20210518-01-R Date: 2022-04-26 Rev.no.: 1 Page: 28

fluctuation for soil properties, using either geostatistics (DeGroot and Baecher, 1993; Keaveny et al., 1990; Lacasse and Nadim, 1996), or random field modelling (Dasaka and Zhang, 2012; Fenton, 1999). For practical applications, Vanmarcke (1997) proposed an approximate relationship between the scale of fluctuation, δ_{ν} , and average distance, \bar{d} , between intersections of the fluctuating property and its trend function, as shown in Figure 5. This simplified random field approach can be adopted to estimate the spatial correlation structure in the vertical direction in e.g. in *Vp* and *Vs* profiles.



Figure 5 Estimation of vertical scale of fluctuation (after Vanmarcke, 1977).

The Vp logs can sometimes be divided into layers. To maintain the required stationarity assumption when using random fields, a trend is generally removed from the data for each and the *detrended data* (i.e. fluctuating component) are considered to be a zero mean stationary process (Liu et al., 2015). The variance of the spatial average, $\sigma^2_{Vp,a}$, and the spatial averaged COV of Vp are then given by:

$$\sigma_{V_{p,a}}^2 = \Gamma^2(L)\sigma_w^2 + \sigma_e^2 \tag{4.14}$$

$$COV_{V_{n_{g}}}^{2} = \Gamma^{2}(L)COV_{w}^{2} + COV_{e}^{2}$$
(4.15)

A critical question when dealing with spatial data and models is if engineering behaviour depends on the properties of an isolated weak zone or the average property value within the ground volume being considered. A widely used example of this from soil engineering is the axial capacity of piles (e.g. Bond and Harris, 2008; Orr, 2000). The shaft friction resistance of a pile is influenced by a large volume of ground along the length of the pile, and thus governed by average soil strength. On the other hand, the end bearing influences an isolated zone below and in the vicinity of the pile tip, and thus the possibility of that locality being weak should be considered. The distinction further dictates if the quantity of interest should be chosen as the basic random variable or as its average. Although not common practice, it is important to provided similar reasoning and arguments when dealing with spatially variable data in rock engineering problems.



In other words, it is particularly important to establish if the above-mentioned variance reduction due to spatial averaging is relevant for the problem at hand (Cami et al., 2020).

4.4 3-D spatial data

Finally, a challenging and less-studied problem is that of 3D spatially variable data in soil and rock engineering where the spatial data are horizontally sparse (large distance between CPTs or boreholes). A discussion of this topic is beyond the scope of this document. See e.g. Ching et al. (2021, 2020) as examples of recent developments in analysing CPT data.

5 Field application

This chapter briefly demonstrates how to quantify spatial variability involved in depthaveraged parameters using the statistical methods described in Section 4 and data from EOS well 31/5-7 in the North Sea.

5.1 Data examples from the EOS well 31/5-7 in the North Sea

5.1.1 In-situ stress conditions

Example of P-wave velocity log and the stress data from EOS Well 31/5-7 and the stress data from EOS Well 31/5-7 are shown in Figure 6. The example shows minimum horizontal stress estimated from XLOT fracture closure stress, including two interpretations with stress gradients of 1.43 sg (specific gravity) and 1.55 sg. The XLOT data in the Drake formations are considered to be of high quality. A regional trendline from XLOT data and LOP data in Horda platform area is also included in the Figure 6. The in-situ stress conditions are summarized in Table 1 based on data from Thompson et al. (2022) and a published Eos well 31/5-7 data by Equinor (Meneguolo et al., 2021). The range of values, mean value and uncertainties are indicated in Table 1. It is noted that the variation described in Table 1 is from the interpretation by the Thompson et al., (2022), not from the methods described in Section 4.

Document no.: 20210518-01-R Date: 2022-04-26 Rev.no.: 1 Page: 30



Figure 6 a) P-wave velocity profile for EOS well 31/5-7 (left), and b) Minimum horizontal stress from XLOT test and sonic log method for EOS well 31/5-7 (right). Depth profile indicating base interpretation stress gradients 1.43sg and alternative high value of 1.55 sg, and reginal XLOT trend for Horda platform (data from Thompson, et.al. 2022).

NGI

Table 1 Example of stress estimation for Drake cap rock in the Aurora field. Mean values are at depth of XLOT and within Drake. The variation and uncertainties are roughly judged from correlation lines and the spread in data in Figure 6.

Parameter	Method	Range (MPa)	Mean (MPa)	% variation (+/-) around mean	Comments
Vertical stress	Density log	49.6-52.3	51.2	low	Not quantified. Normally low, however, depends on log coverage
	Global trend	55.4-60.6	58	5%	Trend for Norwegian Continental Shelf based on Andrews et.al 2016
Minimum horizontal stress	XLOT	36.2 (40 MPa)	36.2	1%	Normally <0.5MPa error for high quality XLOT data. Alternative interpretation 1.55sg= 40MPa is 11% higher
	Sonic log	34-40	37	9%	Reflects vertical variations
	LOP	36.2-40.5	39	4-7%	Reported LOP value NPD. Closure pressure and FBP in XLOT used as lower and upper limit respectively.
	Horda XLOT	37-39	38	8%	Trend from Thompson et. al. 2022
	Horda LOP	38.5-40.5	39	20%	
	Lateral variations sonic logs	32-43	37.6	14%	Lateral variations based on 17 logs. S-wave was calculated based on Machine Learning Technique
Pore pressure	RPM	25.5-26.8	26.1	Low	Assumed Hydrostatic. No measurements in shale.
Maximum horizontal stress	Backcalculated value	36.2-39.8	36.6	Medium	$S_H/S_h=1.05$ is normal assumption. $S_H/S_h=1.01$, 1.05 an 1.1 back calculated Thomson et al 2022.
Maximum Stress	FMI	83-89	87	Low	Based on EOS well induced fractures
orientation	FMI and BO	35-177	89.9	19	Equinor database
	FMI , BO, FMS	13-160	92.8	25.2	World Stress Map 2016

From Table 1, it is clear the uncertainties vary depending on the methods used (LOP, XLOT, log based method) and the dataset available (local vs. regional trends of XLOT and LOT), and whether accounting for detailed variation of stress with depth or laterally. When using regional trends, effects of pore pressure, well inclination, operational effect, lithology and geological history can give increased uncertainties in the trends. Maximum horizontal stress σ_H is often uncertain due to lack of method for direct measurement, but generally σ_H is assumed to be close to σ_h in the North Sea ($\sigma_H/\sigma_h < 1.05$). Stress path during injection will depend on material properties, pore pressure and temperature changes.

Document no.: 20210518-01-R Date: 2022-04-26 Rev.no.: 1 Page: 32

5.1.2 Elastic properties

Example of elastic properties of Drake sealing shale formation derived from p-wave velocity log from EOS well 31/5-7 is shown in Figure 7, along with histogram of the dynamic Poisson's ratio derived from sonic logs strength and histogram of Young's modulus from Horsrud correlation (Horsrud, 2001), which is expressed in Equation 2.4. A regional trend of dynamic Young's modulus and Poisson's ratio for the Drake formation from 17 wells compared with data from the EOS well is shown in Figure 7d, showing also lateral variations in the elastic properties.



Figure 7 Youngs modulus vs. depth for Drake sealing formation in EOS well 31/5-7, showing static undrained Young's modulus from Horsrud empirical correlation and dynamic Youngs's modulus from sonic log data. b) Histogram of dynamic undrained Poisson's ratio c) Histogram of undrained Young's modulus in MPa from Horsrud correlation. Note for Histograms: x-axis is the horizontal stress value, and y-axis indicates the number of logged values in Drake d) Lateral variation in Dynamic Young's modulus (E) and Poisson's ratio (v) form Drake formation from a range of Wells around EOS (Mondol et al., 2022)

5.2 Example calculation for Young's modulus profile

This section demonstrates an example of obtaining a lower quantile linear trend of profile of Young's modulus derived from V_p data illustrated in Figure 6. Transformation uncertainty and spatial variability of the 1D profile are considered. For the former, this example uses only information reported by Horsrud (2001) and no additional statistical analyses are performed. Shortcomings arising from solely relying on information reported in the literature will be discussed.

5.2.1 Transformation uncertainty

By applying Equation 2.4, the V_p profile of Figure 6a can be transformed into a best estimate or *mean* profile of Young's modulus *E*. This is shown as the grey solid line profile in Figure 8. Also shown are layer-specific *mean* linear trends obtained from simple linear regression. As discussed previously, a statistically rigorous calculation of a lower quantile of interest requires constructing a prediction interval for *E*. Unfortunately, this is not possible with the available information. Horsrud (2001) reports the point estimates (best fit values) of the regression parameters and a residual standard deviation of $\sigma_{tr} = 0.4$ GPa. Missing are a more detailed description of the regression model and its assumptions (e.g. distribution type of the error), sample size, and the variance-covariance matrix of the parameters. In absence of these required information, it is not possible to quantify the uncertainty in *mean E* and in turn its contribution to *predictions of E*.

Here, a rough estimation of a spatially variable *lower profile* E is obtained by subtracting two³ times the residual standard deviation of the transformation (i.e., $2 \times 0.4 = 0.8$) from the mean profile. The resulting profile is shown as dashed grey; the dashed blue line is the corresponding linear trend. It should be noted that it is not possible to say what quantile exactly such lower bounds are because of missing details about the regression model, i.e. error distribution type, number of data points, mean of Vp data used in the regression, and variance-covariance of the parameters.

As mentioned earlier, the above calculations provide *a lower trendline* for these data. A sound statistical quantification, however, should account for uncertainty in the parameters of the transformation as well as the number of observations used for fitting the regression model. Furthermore, if it is desired to *update* such generic transformations with site-specific measurements of E, quantification of the parameter uncertainty in the regression analysis is absolutely necessary. In other words, it is not possible to perform a Bayesian updating with the information provided by Horsrud (2001). The straightforward solution to this problem is to obtain the database used for fitting the regression model, refit the regression model and extract the necessary information. It is emphasized that the above criticism are not a reflection on the research presented by

 $^{^3}$ Note that the 95% probability interval for the standard normal distribution is (-1.96, 1.96).

 $p: 2021 \ 05 \ 2021 \ 05 \ 2021 \ 05 \ 2021 \ 05 \ 1_{input} uncertainty \ quantification \ rev1 \ 2021 \ 0518 \ 01 \ r_{input} uncertainty \ quantification \ rev1 \ 2021 \ 0518 \ 01 \ r_{input} \ uncertainty \ quantification \ rev1 \ 2021 \ 0518 \ 01 \ r_{input} \ uncertainty \ quantification \ rev1 \ 2021 \ 0518 \ 01 \ r_{input} \ uncertainty \ quantification \ rev1 \ 2021 \ 0518 \ 01 \ r_{input} \ uncertainty \ quantification \ rev1 \ 2021 \ 0518 \ 01 \ r_{input} \ uncertainty \ quantification \ rev1 \ 2021 \ 0518 \ 01 \ r_{input} \ uncertainty \ quantification \ rev1 \ 2021 \ 0518 \ 01 \ r_{input} \ uncertainty \ quantification \ rev1 \ 2021 \ 0518 \ 01 \ r_{input} \ uncertainty \ quantification \ rev1 \ 2021 \ 0518 \ r_{input} \ quantification \ rev1 \ rev1 \ rev1 \ r_{input} \ r_$

Document no.: 20210518-01-R Date: 2022-04-26 Rev.no.: 1 Page: 34

NG

Horsrud (2001). Rather, they are merely an example of typical reporting of regression results in many soil and rock engineering publications. With increasing interest in quantitative uncertainty quantification, this should be done more carefully taken into account explicitly.





5.2.2 Spatial variability

The next step is to consider the spatial variability exhibited by the profiles. Table 2 summarizes layer-specific estimated scales of fluctuation and variance reduction factors obtained using the approach described in Figure 4. For each layer, the dashed green lines in Figure 8 are obtained by subtracting two (spatial) standard deviations from the mean trend line.

Layer	Thickness	σ_w^2	δ_v	$\Gamma^2(L)$	$\Gamma^2(L)\sigma_w^2$
	(m)		(m)		
Drake 2	52.88	0.73	0.98	0.019	0.0136
Drake 1 upper	21.80	0.30	1.11	0.051	0.0151
Intra Drake	24.84	0.35	1.80	0.072	0.0256
Drake 1 lower	27.90	0.24	0.88	0.032	0.0077

Table 2 Variance reduction factor for spatially averaged E

5.2.3 Total variation

The total variance for each layer is calculated as the sum of the two variance components. For example, for the Drake 2 layer, the variance of the transformation is $0.4^2 = 0.16$ and the variance of the spatially averaged linear trend is 0.0136. The total variance and standard deviation are 0.1736 and 0.42, respectively. The dashed red lines in Figure 8 represent linear trends obtained by subtracting two times total standard deviation from the mean trend line. It is noted that the transformation variance is dominant in this illustration. Finally, it is emphasized that the above analysis is valid for situations where it is reasonable to assume that the measurements involve spatial averaging, and thus detailed differences in the spatially varying field are averaged out, and the variance of the averaged field is smaller than that of the original field. This seems to be a reasonable assumption for large-scale engineering analyses that require an estimate of modulus of elasticity of sedimentary rock layers that are few metres to few tens of metres thick.

6 Summary and recommendations

This report introduced methods for uncertainty quantification that can be involved in geomechanical properties estimation, especially for depth-profile indirectly estimated from acoustic wave velocities. The main findings from this report can be summarized as follows:

- According to section 2 on the estimation methods for a depth profile, indirect estimation of rock mechanical properties and in-situ stress condition using well-log or petrophysical information are mainly based on empirical correlations from field/laboratory measurements and/or simplified physical understandings. Thus, the estimations can naturally involve an uncertainty caused by its simplification and lack of physical understanding in the empirical correlation.
- Section 3 introduced various type of uncertainties, including philosophicallyoriented epistemic/aleatory classification of uncertainties and applicationoriented classification. When the depth-averaged geomechanical properties are estimated from a well-log or petrophysical information, the estimation can involve following uncertainties:



- Statistical parameter uncertainty, which can be associated with limited number of observation or field measurements;
- Model uncertainty, which can be associated with imperfection of a physical model – which transform well-log information to rock mechanical inputs – and a probabilistic model which is related to a form of the statistical parametric distribution and regression model;
- Spatial variability, which is related to nature randomness varying from one point in space to another; and
- Observation (measurement) error, which is related to imprecisions associated with measurements such as limitations of equipment or operational conditions.
- Section 4 introduced a few quantification methods for uncertainties listed in section 3. As a method to quantify statistical parameter uncertainties, a confidence and prediction interval is introduced. Then, the concept of Bayesian approach is introduced as a means of quantifying model uncertainties. For quantification of spatial variability, a simplified approach using random fields is presented.
- Finally, in section 5, the uncertainty procedure described in sections 3 and 4 was demonstrated using data from the North Sea.

As addressed in this report, statistical modelling is a helpful tool to estimate reliable ranges of geomechanical input that can cover an area of interest. Also, it can be useful to determine likelihoods of the data's upper and lower limits using a systemic approach without an engineering judgement. In spite of its usefulness, the statistical approaches have been less highlighted in geomechanics for CO_2 storage. It should be kept in mind that this report addressed only basic approaches for uncertainty quantification with simplified assumptions. In reality, the uncertainties listed in section 3 are closely linked and sometimes difficult to separate as independent components. Thus, it is recommended to adopt more advanced methods (e.g., Bayesian approaches) for quantification of uncertainty in estimated rock mechanical properties.

The feasibility of the methods described in this report will be investigated with WP1 of the SHARP project, which is related to the in-situ stress modelling and interpretation, and potentially reported in the D5.4 deliverable.

7 **References**

- Andrews, J., Fintland, T.G., Helstrup, O.A., Horsrud, P., Raaen, A.M., 2016. Use of Unique Database of Good Quality Stress Data to Investigate Theories of Fracture Initiation, Fracture Propagation and the Stress State in the Subsurface. American Rock Mechanics Association, Houston, Texas.
- Andrews, J.S., de Lesquen, C., 2019. Stress Determination from Logs. Why the Simple Uniaxial Strain Model is Physically Flawed but Still Gives Relatively Good Matches to High Quality Stress Measurements Performed on Several Fields

Offshore Norway. Presented at the 53rd U.S. Rock Mechanics/Geomechanics Symposium, American Rock Mechanics Association.

Baecher, G.B., 2017. Bayesian Thinking in Geotechnics 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1061/9780784480694.001

- Baecher, G.B., 1985. Geotechnical error analysis, MIT special summer course 1.60S recent developments in measurement and modelling of clay behaviour for foundation design. Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Cambridge.
- Baecher, G.B., Christian, J.T., 2005. Reliability and Statistics in Geotechnical Engineering. John Wiley & Sons.
- Bond, A., Harris, A., 2008. Decoding Eurocode 7. CRC Press.
- Box, G.E.P., Draper, N.R., 1987. Empirical model-building and response surfaces, Empirical model-building and response surfaces. John Wiley & Sons, Oxford, England.
- Bozorgzadeh, N., Bathurst, R.J., 2020. Hierarchical Bayesian approaches to statistical modelling of geotechnical data. Georisk: Assessment and Management of Risk for Engineered Systems and Geohazards 0, 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1080/17499518.2020.1864411
- Bozorgzadeh, N., Bathurst, R.J., 2019. Bayesian model checking, comparison and selection with emphasis on outlier detection for geotechnical reliability-based design. Computers and Geotechnics 116, 103181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compgeo.2019.103181
- Bozorgzadeh, N., Harrison, J.P., Escobar, M.D., 2019. Hierarchical Bayesian modelling of geotechnical data: application to rock strength. Géotechnique 69, 1056–1070. https://doi.org/10.1680/jgeot.17.P.282
- Cami, B., Javankhoshdel, S., Phoon, K.-K., Ching, J., 2020. Scale of Fluctuation for Spatially Varying Soils: Estimation Methods and Values. ASCE-ASME Journal of Risk and Uncertainty in Engineering Systems, Part A: Civil Engineering 6, 03120002. https://doi.org/10.1061/AJRUA6.0001083
- Cao, Z.-J., Wang, Y., Li, D.-Q., 2016. Site-specific characterization of soil properties using multiple measurements from different test procedures at different locations A Bayesian sequential updating approach. Engineering Geology 211, 150–161. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enggeo.2016.06.021
- Ching, J., Huang, W.-H., Phoon, K.-K., 2020. 3D Probabilistic Site Characterization by Sparse Bayesian Learning. Journal of Engineering Mechanics 146, 04020134. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)EM.1943-7889.0001859
- Ching, J., Phoon, K.-K., 2019. Constructing Site-Specific Multivariate Probability Distribution Model Using Bayesian Machine Learning. Journal of Engineering Mechanics 145, 04018126. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)EM.1943-7889.0001537
- Ching, J., Phoon, K.-K., Yang, Z., Stuedlein, A.W., 2022. Quasi-site-specific multivariate probability distribution model for sparse, incomplete, and threedimensional spatially varying soil data. Georisk: Assessment and Management of Risk for Engineered Systems and Geohazards 16, 53–76. https://doi.org/10.1080/17499518.2021.1971256
- Ching, J., Yang, Z., Phoon, K.-K., 2021. Dealing with Nonlattice Data in Three-Dimensional Probabilistic Site Characterization. Journal of Engineering

Mechanics 147, 06021003. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)EM.1943-7889.0001907

- Dasaka, S. m., Zhang, L. m., 2012. Spatial variability of in situ weathered soil. Géotechnique 62, 375–384. https://doi.org/10.1680/geot.8.P.151.3786
- DeGroot, D.J., Baecher, G.B., 1993. Estimating Autocovariance of In-Situ Soil Properties. Journal of Geotechnical Engineering 119, 147–166. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)0733-9410(1993)119:1(147)
- Efron, B., 1992. Bootstrap Methods: Another Look at the Jackknife, in: Kotz, S., Johnson, N.L. (Eds.), Breakthroughs in Statistics: Methodology and Distribution, Springer Series in Statistics. Springer, New York, NY, pp. 569– 593. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-4380-9_41
- Efron, B., Tibshirani, R.J., 1994. An Introduction to the Bootstrap. CRC Press.
- Feng, X., Jimenez, R., 2014. Bayesian prediction of elastic modulus of intact rocks using their uniaxial compressive strength. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ENGGEO.2014.02.005
- Fenton, G.A., 1999. Random Field Modeling of CPT Data. Journal of Geotechnical and
Geoenvironmental Engineering 125, 486–498.
https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)1090-0241(1999)125:6(486)
- Ferson, S., Ginzburg, L.R., 1996. Different methods are needed to propagate ignorance and variability. Reliability Engineering & System Safety, Treatment of Aleatory and Epistemic Uncertainty 54, 133–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0951-8320(96)00071-3
- Fjær, E., 2019. Relations between static and dynamic moduli of sedimentary rocks. Geophysical Prospecting 67, 128–139. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2478.12711
- Fjær, E., Holt, R.M., Horsrud, P., Raaen, A.M., 2008. Petroleum Related Rock Mechanics. Elsevier.
- Gelman, A., Carlin, J.B., Stern, H.S., Dunson, D.B., Vehtari, A., Rubin, D.B., 2013. Bayesian Data Analysis, 3rd edition. ed. Chapman and Hall/CRC, Boca Raton.
- Grande, L., Cuisiat, F., 2008. Predicting deformation properties of argillaceous sediments for geomechanical analyses. Presented at the The 33rd International Geological Congress (IGC), Oslo, Norway.
- Horsrud, P., 2001. Estimating Mechanical Properties of Shale From Empirical Correlations. SPE Drilling & Completion 16, 68–73. https://doi.org/10.2118/56017-PA
- Juang, C.H., Zhang, J., 2017. Bayesian Methods for Geotechnical Applications—A Practical Guide 215–246. https://doi.org/10.1061/9780784480731.019
- Keaveny, J., Nadim, F., Lacasse, S., 1990. Autocorrelation Functions for Offshore Geotechnical Data. undefined.
- Der Kiureghian, A., Ditlevsen, O., 2009. Aleatory or epistemic? Does it matter? Structural Safety, Risk Acceptance and Risk Communication 31, 105–112. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.strusafe.2008.06.020
- Lacasse, S., Nadim, F., 1996. Uncertainties in Characterising Soil Properties. Presented at the Uncertainty in the Geologic Environment: from Theory to Practice, ASCE, pp. 49–75.

- Liu, Z., Lacasse, S., Nadim, F., Vanneste, M., Yetginer, G., 2015. Accounting for the spatial variability of soil properties in the reliability-based design of offshore piles. Frontiers in Offshore Geotechnics III - 3rd International Symposium on Frontiers in Offshore Geotechnics, ISFOG 2015 1375–1380. https://doi.org/10.1201/b18442-210
- Lunn, D., Jackson, C., Best, N., Thomas, A., Spiegelhalter, D., 2012. The BUGS Book: A Practical Introduction to Bayesian Analysis, 1st edition. ed. Chapman and Hall/CRC.
- Meneguolo, R., Kassold, S., Høigjelle, V., Veselovsky, Z., 2021. Data acquisition and evaluation from the Eos well (31/5-7), Northern Lights CCS project, Norway. Presented at the Fourth EAGE Borehole Geology Workshop, European Association of Geoscientists & Engineers, pp. 1–3. https://doi.org/10.3997/2214-4609.2021626019
- Mondol, N., Grande, L., Bjørnarå, T., Thompson, N., 2022. Caprock characterization of the Northern Lights CO2 storage project, offshore Norway. Presented at the EAGE GeoTech, London.
- Nadim, F., 1988. GEOTECHNICAL SITE DESCRIPTION USING STOCHASTIC INTERPOLATION. Norwegian Geotechnical Institute Publication.
- O'Hagan, A., Buck, C.E., Daneshkhah, A., Eiser, J.R., Garthwaite, P.H., Jenkinson, D.J., Oakley, J.E., Rakow, T., 2006. Uncertain Judgements: Eliciting Expert Probabilities. John Wiley, Chichester.
- O'Hagan, A., Oakley, J.E., 2004. Probability is perfect, but we can't elicit it perfectly. Reliability Engineering & System Safety, Alternative Representations of Epistemic Uncertainty 85, 239–248. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ress.2004.03.014
- Orr, T.L.L., 2000. Selection of characteristic values and partial factors in geotechnical designs to Eurocode 7. Computers and Geotechnics 26, 263–279. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0266-352X(99)00042-7
- Paniagua, P., D'Ignazio, M., L'Heureux, J.-S., Lunne, T., Karlsrud, K., Paniagua, P., D'Ignazio, M., L'Heureux, J.-S., Lunne, T., Karlsrud, K., 2019. CPTU correlations for Norwegian clays: an update. AIMSGEO 5, 82–103. https://doi.org/10.3934/geosci.2019.2.82
- Phoon, K.-K., Kulhawy, F.H., 1999. Evaluation of geotechnical property variability. Can. Geotech. J. 36, 625–639. https://doi.org/10.1139/t99-039
- Raaen, A.M., Horsrud, P., Kjørholt, H., Økland, D., 2006. Improved routine estimation of the minimum horizontal stress component from extended leak-off tests. International Journal of Rock Mechanics and Mining Sciences 43, 37–48. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijrmms.2005.04.005
- Savage, L.J., 1972. The Foundations of Statistics. Courier Corporation.
- Stan Development Team, 2022. Stan User's Guide.
- Thompson, N., Andrews, J.S., Wu, L., Meneguolo, R., 2022. Characterization of the insitu stress on the Horda platform – A study from the Northern Lights Eos well. International Journal of Greenhouse Gas Control 114, 103580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijggc.2022.103580
- Vanmarcke, E., 1983. Random fields: Analysis and synthesis, Cambridge.

- Vanmarcke, E.H., 1977. Probabilistic Modeling of Soil Profiles. Journal of the Geotechnical Engineering Division 103, 1227–1246. https://doi.org/10.1061/AJGEB6.0000517
- Zhang, J., Boothroyd, J., Calvello, M., Eddleston, M., Grimal, A.C., Iason, P., Lou, Z., 2017. Bayesian Method: A Natural Tool for Processing Geotechnical Information. Presented at the Joint TC205/TC304 Working Group on Discussion of Statistical/Reliability Methods for Eurocodes, International Society for Soil Mechanics and Geotechnical Engineering, London.

NG Kontroll- og referanseside/ Review and reference page

Dokumentinformasjon/Document information				
Dokumenttittel/Document title Dokumentnr./Document no.				
Guideline for uncertainty quantification of	20210518-01-R			
Dokumenttype/Type of document Rapport / Report	Oppdragsgiver/ <i>Client</i>	Dato/Date 2022-04-26		
Rettigheter til dokumentet iht kontrakt/ F according to contract NGI	Rev.nr.&dato/Rev.no.&date 1 / 2022-04-26			
Distribusjon/Distribution ÅPEN: Skal tilgjengeliggjøres i åpent arkiv (BRAGE) / OPEN: To be published in open archives (BRAGE)				
Emneord/ <i>Keywords</i>				
Geomechanics, uncertainty quantification, CO2 storage				

Stedfesting/Geographical information			
Land, fylke/Country	Havområde/ <i>Offshore area</i>		
Kommune/ <i>Municipality</i>	Feltnavn/Field name		
Sted/Location	Sted/Location		
Kartblad/Map	Felt, blokknr./ <i>Field, Block No.</i>		
UTM-koordinater/UTM-coordinates Zone: East: North:	Koordinater/ <i>Coordinates</i> Projection, datum: East: North:		

Doku	imentkontroll/Document control						
Kvali	Kvalitetssikring i henhold til/Quality assurance according to NS-EN ISO9001						
Rev/ <i>Rev.</i>	Revisjonsgrunnlag/Reason for revision	Egenkontroll av/ Self review by:	Sidemanns- kontroll av/ Colleague review by:	Uavhengig kontroll av/ Independent review by:	Tverrfaglig kontroll av/ Interdisciplinary review by:		
0		2022-03-22	2022-03-22				
0	Original document	Elin Skurtveit	Farrokh Nadim				
	Comments from external reviewers	2022-04-26	2022-04-26				
1		Elin Skurtveit	Farrokh Nadim				

Dokument godkjent for utsendelse/
Document approved for releaseDato/DateProsjektleder/Project Manager26 April 2022Elin Skurtveit

2015-10-16, 043 n/e, rev.03

 $p:\ 2021\ 05\ 2021\ 05\ 1_input\ uncertainty\ quantification\ v1\ 2021\ 05\ 1_input\ uncertainty\ quantification\ v1\ 2021\ 05\ 1=\ 0.$

NGI (Norwegian Geotechnical Institute) is a leading international centre for research and consulting within the geosciences. NGI develops optimum solutions for society and offers expertise on the behaviour of soil, rock and snow and their interaction with the natural and built environment.

NGI works within the following sectors: Offshore energy – Building, Construction and Transportation – Natural Hazards – Environmental Engineering.

NGI is a private foundation with office and laboratories in Oslo, a branch office in Trondheim and daughter companies in Houston, Texas, USA and in Perth, Western Australia

NGI (Norges Geotekniske Institutt) er et internasjonalt ledende senter for forskning og rådgivning innen ingeniørrelaterte geofag. Vi tilbyr ekspertise om jord, berg og snø og deres påvirkning på miljøet, konstruksjoner og anlegg, og hvordan jord og berg kan benyttes som byggegrunn og byggemateriale.

Vi arbeider i følgende markeder: Offshore energi – Bygg, anlegg og samferdsel – Naturfare – Miljøteknologi.

NGI er en privat næringsdrivende stiftelse med kontor og laboratorier i Oslo, avdelingskontor i Trondheim og datterselskaper i Houston, Texas, USA og i Perth, Western Australia.

www.ngi.no



NORWEGIAN GEOTECHNICAL INSTITUTE Main office NGI.NO NO-0806 Oslo Norway

Norway

Trondheim office NO-7485 Trondheim NGI@ngi.no

T (+47)22 02 30 00 BIC NO. DNBANOKK PO Box 3930 Ullevaal St. PO Box 5687 Torgarden F (+47)22 23 04 48 IBAN NO26 5096 0501 281 CERTIFIED BY BSI ORGANISATION NO. 958 254 318MVA

ISO 9001/14001 FS 32989/EMS 612006